FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/19/2018 2:51 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95396-1 Court of Appeals No. 48525-7-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

vs.

## **Shelly Arndt**

Appellant/Petitioner

Kitsap County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00428-0 The Honorable Judge Leila Mills

### **Amended PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

#### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

##

#### **DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED**

Petitioner Shelly Arndt, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the Court of Appeals opinion entered on December 12, 2017. Appendix ("AP") 1-52. This case presents five issues:

- 1. Must constitutional errors be reviewed *de novo*?
- 2. Did the trial court violate Ms. Arndt's constitutional right to present a defense?
- 3. Does the double jeopardy clause apply to aggravating factors?
- 4. Does double jeopardy prohibit conviction for both aggravated first-degree murder and arson, where the arson aggravator and the arson conviction are based on the same evidence?
- 5. Does the merger doctrine prohibit conviction for both aggravated first-degree murder and arson, where the arson, as charged and proved, elevates the first-degree murder conviction to an aggravated offense?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

Attorney David LaCross knew he'd have an uphill battle defending Shelly Arndt; who was accused of setting the fire that killed her boyfriend Darcy Veeder Jr. CP 352-358, 490. More than two years earlier, Ms. Arndt had set two fires, apparently to protest Veeder's drinking and to persuade him to move with her out of his parents' house. RP 1776, 1829-1830, 2369, 2962, 3254, 3270-3271; CP 148, 151-152.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Trial started on September 28, 2015 and concluded on November 18, 2015. With one exception, the transcripts of the trial dates were sequentially numbered and will be cited as RP. The transcript includes duplicate numbers in the range 3562-3599. These numbers were first used for the hearing that occurred on November 11, 2015. Transcript pages in that range from that date will be cited RP (11/10/15). These same numbers were used again on November 12; pages from that date will be cited RP without further specification. Citations to pretrial and post-trial hearings will also include the date.

Fire Marshal David Lynam had investigated the fire, found what he believed to be the point of origin,<sup>2</sup> decided on the likely ignition sequence,<sup>3</sup> and concluded that the fire was incendiary rather than accidental. RP 2749, 2841-2852, 2887-2892, 2992. Lynam opined that someone started the fire by holding an open flame to a beanbag chair near a couch in the house's basement. RP 2842, 2851, 2887-2893, 2906-2908, 2915-2923, 3013-3014, 3016-3017, 3156-3157, 3165, 3183-3184, 3195.<sup>4</sup>

Lynam concluded early in the process that the fire originated adjacent to a couch in the basement. RP 2993, 3032.<sup>5</sup> After reaching this conclusion, Lynam and his team performed only a cursory investigation of other areas in the basement. These areas that received only minimal attention included a severely burned foosball table, where three beanbag chairs had been placed prior to the fire. RP 2831-2832, 3036, 3040-3042, 3057-3059, 3084-3088, 3095, 3114-3115, 3162, 3813, 3945, 4041, 4252.<sup>6</sup> It also included a spot immediately below two ceiling vents, which connected the basement with the living room directly above, where a wood and prestolog fire had been burning in a fireplace insert prior to the fire. The fire

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In any fire investigation, the origin of the fire must be accurately determined before the cause can be ascertained. RP 1724, 1876-1877, 3042, 3692.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The "ignition sequence" is the process by which a fire's primary fuels are ignited. RP 4047. It requires an ignition source, and a first-ignited fuel, which may or may not be the fire's main fuel. RP 4047.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> After defense expert Mann testified, Lynam retreated from his beanbag theory, but the State relied on it as evidence of premeditation in closing. RP 4248, 4333-4334, 4403-4404.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RP 2993, 3032.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In addition, the foosball table had the remnants of an electrical device, which the fire marshal's team apparently did not notice. CP 448. The defense expert later identified this device as a possible ignition source for the fire. CP 448.

marshal's office did not excavate debris in this area immediately below the fireplace insert. RP 957, 1386, 2814, 3860, 3959-3960; CP 447.

Given Ms. Arndt's prior history, attorney LaCross knew that Lynam's conclusion—if accepted by a jury—made conviction inevitable. The State added to counsel's challenge by bolstering Lynam's findings with the testimony of several other expert witnesses.

Insurance investigator Ed Iskra did a partial investigation. RP 1856, 2481. Although he initially categorized the fire as undetermined, he reviewed Lynam's supplemental report and changed his conclusion to incendiary. RP 68, 1633, 1785-1788, 1796, 1824, 1838-1839, 1841.

The prosecution also retained Ken Rice to evaluate Lynam's conclusions. RP 1862. Rice reviewed all the available information, including Lynam's materials, Iskra's materials, police reports, firefighter reports, and coroner's reports. He joined Lynam to conduct several tests. RP 21, 2433, 2449-2452, 2510, 2481, 3392. Rice performed what is known as a "technical review." RP 1894. Based on testing and review of available materials, Rice supported Lynam's conclusion that the fire was incendiary. He also agreed with Lynam that a beanbag chair could have been the first fuel that ignited the couch. RP 2402, 2407, 2420, 2514, 2557.

Lynam, Iskra, and Rice all told jurors that the fire should be classified as incendiary. RP 1635, 1796-1798, 2407, 2516, 2852.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> From available data, Rice agreed with Lynam's assessment of the area of origin, but could not determine the point of origin. RP 2407.

To review Lynam's investigation, LaCross retained Dale Mann, a former state patrol crime lab supervisor and certified arson investigator. RP 3403, 3573, 3576, 3580, 3717, 4050; CP 446. Mann was often hired to evaluate the work of others, and had done so many times. RP 4150; CP 450. Like Rice, Mann performed a "technical review." *See* National Fire Protection Association 921: *Guide for Fire and Explosion Investigations* (2011) (NFPA 921) Section 4.6.2.8

But Mann resisted the label "technical review," preferring "peer review", and this became a major issue for the prosecution. PRP 3407-3411, 3529, 3533, 3583, 3663, 4094, 4137. The State repeatedly sought to limit Mann's testimony, failing to understand that Mann performed the same kind of review as Rice despite Mann's quibble with labels. RP 3407-3411, 3480-3506, 3525, 3529, 3533, 3534-3535, 3540-3550.

Like Iskra and Rice, Mann examined all available materials, including the fire marshal's reports, many photos and other documentation, police reports, coroner's reports, and firefighter reports. RP 3761-3764. Mann went to the scene twice and, like Iskra, performed his own partial investigation. RP 3528, 1856, 2481, 3617, 3667-3682, 3762; CP 447. Like

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> available at:

http://www.nfpa.org/Assets/files/AboutTheCodes/921/Ch%204%20methodology.pdf (last accessed 8/12/16).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The NFPA 921 guide refers to technical reviews as susceptible to bias "introduced in the context of working relationships or friendships." *Id.*, Section 4.6.2.2; RP 2475. Mann had no prior relationship with Lynam or others in the fire marshal's office. RP 3733. Because of this, Mann referred to his own review as a hybrid between a technical review and a "peer review." RP 4094-4095, 4137. Unlike a technical review, a peer review "carries with it connotations of both independence and objectivity." NFPA 921, Section 4.6.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> He also reviewed materials and documentation provided by Iskra and Rice. RP 3762-3764.

Lynam and Rice, he performed tests and considered the results in formulating his opinions. RP (11/10/15) 3564-3580; RP 3679-3682; CP 448.

Mann concluded that the fire marshal's office failed to conduct a proper investigation. RP 3402-3407, 4147-4149, 4155, 4158-4159; CP 450. He determined that Lynam's data—even when considered in conjunction with Iskra's information, Rice's testing, and all other available data—did not support Lynam's proposed point of origin, ignition sequence, or conclusion the fire was incendiary. RP 3537-3538, 3664-3665, 3674, 3680, 3682, 4048; CP 450. He believed Lynam allowed his objectivity to be compromised by his knowledge of Ms. Arndt's history, resulting in truncation of the investigation. RP 3771, 3774-3775, 3779, 3788-3789, 3809-3817, 3836-3843, 3855-3862, 3884-3888, 3919-3920, 3945, 3952-3953, 3959-3960, 4047-4048, 4112, 4127-4129, 4147-4149, 4152-4155, 4157-4159; CP 447.

Mann classified the fire as undetermined, rather than incendiary. RP 3537-3538, 3664-3665; CP 450. However, when it came time for trial, the judge would not let attorney LaCross present this opinion. RP 3664-3665. The judge also excluded all information and related opinions that Mann obtained through his own investigation. She excluded all testi-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Instead, the court permitted him to testify only that Lynam's conclusions were unsupported, and did not allow him to offer his complete explanation. RP 3664.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The court defined "investigation" very broadly, to include anything other than what Mann observed in plain view at the scene. RP 3661-3662, 3667, 3684. For example, the prosecution convinced the court that Mann kicking an item to see if it was stuck to the floor qualified as "investigation." RP 3980-3982.

mony relating to his review of the police and coroner reports, and the laboratory testing of debris he took from the scene. RP 3652, 3661-3662, 3667-3686, 3745, 3760, 3895-3903, 4266-4270; Ex. 345-347.

Instead, the trial judge limited Mann's testimony to information and opinions based only on the three other investigators' materials and Mann's own "plain view" observations at the scene. RP 3661-3662, 3666-3667, 3684. She did not impose similar restrictions on Iskra or Rice, even though they too did not conduct a complete fire investigation. RP 1856, 1894, 2481, 2296, 2406, 2471-2472.

LaCross vigorously and repeatedly objected to the court's rulings, and asked the court to reconsider. RP (11/10/15) 3526-3552, 3565-3589; RP 3650-3661, 3664-3667, 3687-3690, 3742-3744, 3754-3759, 3800-3802, 3894, 4001-4005, 4027-4030, 4266-4270. He argued that the evidence was relevant and admissible, that the limitations violated Ms. Arndt's constitutional right to present a defense. He also argued that the State had opened the door to Mann's testimony. RP 3411-3412, 4118, 4266-4270. The court refused to reconsider.

The court excluded Mann's opinion that the fire should be classified as undetermined (rather than incendiary). The court excluded the melted bucket remnant which Mann found adhered to the basement floor near Lynam's hypothesized point of origin, which would have undermined Lynam's conclusion. RP 3667-3686, 4022-4023; CP 448-119; Ex. 345-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The judge was apparently persuaded that Mann should be limited in this way because he had not personally conducted a complete origin and cause investigation of the scene. RP 3528, 3531, 3536, 3661-3662, 3665-3667.

347. The court excluded that Mann found the remains of another melted plastic bucket or storage bin stuck to the basement floor beneath vents leading through the ceiling and up into the living room. <sup>14</sup> RP 3959-3960. The court excluded Mann's opinion that the area around the basement hearth had not been properly examined. RP 3860, 3950, 3959-3960; CP 447. The court excluded Mann's conclusions drawn from reports written by police, firefighters, and the coroner's office. 15 RP 3745, 3760. The court excluded Mann's lab test results showing the presence of polystyrene around the foosball table. 16 RP (11/10/15) 3565, 3574, 3576; RP 3652; CP 448. The court excluded Mann's testimony that he'd recovered charred debris from the area of the foosball table, tested it, and confirmed the presence of polystyrene. RP (11/10/15) 3565, 3574, 3576; RP 3652; CP 448. The court excluded Mann's testing of debris recovered from the point of origin (near the couch), which contained no polystyrene. RP 3679; CP 448. The court excluded Mann's opinion that the room went to "flashover," an event with the potential to skew the investigation. RP 1626, 1882, 2468, 3023, 3706, 3891, 3893-3894; CP 449. And finally, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Mann believed this area to be significant. Any highly combustible material below the vent could have ignited if flaming material fell through the vent from the wood stove above. A wood and presto-log fire had been burning in the living room stove insert prior to the fire. Furthermore, photographs taken after the fire showed that the living room stove's door may have been open. <sup>14</sup> Additional testimony established that Veeder, who had a blood alcohol content of .26, had attempted to stoke the upstairs fire. <sup>14</sup> RP 1054, 1206-1207, 1419, 1582, 1780, 1782, 1902, 2095, 2356, 2498, 2520, 2558, 2774, 2814, 2985, 3294, 3511, 3923-3924.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Lynam and Rice both reviewed and discussed these reports in their testimony. Mann testified that fire experts reasonably and routinely rely on such reports in forming their opinions. RP 1895, 2422-2423, 2449-2452, 2481, 2988, 3749-3751; RP (9/11/15) 21. <sup>16</sup> The court's ruling on this point changed more than once; however, in the end, the evidence was excluded. RP (11/10/15) 3573-3574, 3579-3580; RP 3564-3567, 3652.

court excluded Mann's evaluation of Lyman's conclusion that occupants of the living room would have immediately seen smoke coming through the vent had an accidental fire started in the basement directly below the wood stove. But the court also refused to allow this. RP 2383-2385, 2482, 2552, 2868-2869, 3129-3133, 3895-3903.

The importance of each of these pieces of evidence to Ms. Arndt's defense will be described in further detail later.

The jury convicted Ms. Arndt as charged.<sup>17</sup> CP 430-432. This included conviction for aggravated first-degree murder (based on an arson aggravating factor) and for first-degree arson. CP 430, 433. The court sentenced Ms. Arndt to life in prison without possibility of parole on the aggravated murder charge. CP 474. The court imposed 144 months on the arson charge. CP 474.

Ms. Arndt timely appealed. CP 484, 612-624. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an opinion signed by two judges. AP 1-37. The third judge dissented "because the trial court erroneously excluded crucial, highly probative testimony," in violation of ER 702 and Ms. Arndt's constitutional right to present a defense. AP 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> LaCross moved for a new trial. CP 442. He argued that the trial court violated Ms. Arndt's constitutional right to present a defense by excluding significant portions of Mann's testimony. CP 442-445. He submitted a declaration from Mann, reiterating the excluded information. CP 446-451.<sup>17</sup> The court denied the motion. CP 611.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The court vacated a conviction for felony murder on double jeopardy grounds.

#### **ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

I. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW AND REVERSE BE-CAUSE THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MS. ARNOT'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

A. The Court of Appeals erred by applying an abuse-of-discretion standard to this constitutional error.

The Supreme Court reviews constitutional claims *de novo*. *State v. Arlene's Flowers, Inc.*, 187 Wn.2d 804, 820, 389 P.3d 543 (2017); *State v. Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d 333, 339, 394 P.3d 373 (2017). This includes claims involving violation of the right to present a defense. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). The Court of Appeals refused to apply *de novo* review to Ms. Arndt's constitutional argument. AP 18-19. Instead, the court analyzed the constitutional issue as a mere evidentiary error, applying an abuse-of-discretion standard. AP 18-19. The proper standard is de novo review: a court necessarily abuses its discretion by violating an accused person's constitutional rights. *Id.; see also, e.g.*, *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wash.2d 273, 280-81, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). 19

However, the court has not applied this rule consistently. For example, one month prior to its decision in *Jones*, the court apparently applied an abuse-of-discretion standard to questions of admissibility under

<sup>19</sup> Thus, in *Jones*, for example, the court reviewed de novo a discretionary decision excluding evidence under the rape shield statute because the defendant argued a violation of his constitutional right to present a defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 719.19 Similarly, the *Iniguez* court reviewed de novo the trial judge's discretionary decisions denying a severance motion and granting a continuance, because the defendant argued a violation of his constitutional right to a speedy trial. *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 280-281. The *Iniguez* court specifically pointed out that review would have been for abuse of discretion had the defendant not argued a constitutional violation. *Id. See also United States v. Lankford*, 955 F.2d 1545, 1548 (11th Cir. 1992).

the rape shield law, even though—as in *Jones*— the defendant alleged a violation of his right to present a defense. *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 362-63, 229 P.3d 669 (2010). But such inconsistency should not be taken as a repudiation of the rule: cases applying the abuse-of-discretion standard have not grappled with the rationale supporting it. <sup>20</sup> *See, e.g., State v. Dye*, 178 Wn.2d 541, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013); *State v. Clark*, 187 Wn.2d 641, 648–49, 389 P.3d 462 (2017). <sup>21</sup>

The Supreme Court should accept review and unequivocally hold that violations of the right to present a defense are reviewed *de novo*, with no deference to the trial court's decision to exclude evidence. *Id.* This case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest. Review is therefore appropriate under RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4).

sent a defense. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 719. Such cases will turn on harmless error analysis,

not on de novo review of the error's constitutional import.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> For example, in *Dye*, the court indicated that "[a]lleging that a ruling violated the de-

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