# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/12/2018 2:27 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON

NO. 95396-1

CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### SHELLY MARGARET ARNDT,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 48525-7-II Kitsap County Superior Court No. 14-1-00428-0

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

Jodi R. Backlund Po Box 6490

Olympia, Wa 98507-6490

Email: backlundmistry@gmail.com

I.	IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT			
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION			
III.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V.	ARGUMENT			
	THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW AND PROPERLY REJECTED HER CLAIMS REGARDING HER EXPERT'S TESTIMONY, AND PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT A CONVICTION FOR FIRST- DEGREE MURDER AGGRAVATED BY ARSON AND A SEPARATE CONVICTION FOR ARSON DID NOT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROTECTIONS.  1. None of the considerations governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) support acceptance of review			
	2. Arndt fails to show that a blanket de novo standard of review is appropriate	5		
	3. The decision below does not conflict with <i>State v. Allen.</i>	10		
VI.	CONCLUSION	13		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **CASES**

Barker v. Wingo,
407 U.S. 514, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972)5
Brown v. State,
155 Wn.2d 254, 119 P.3d 341 (2005)
Doggett v. United States,
505 U.S. 647, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 120 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1992) 5
State v. Allen,
Wn. App. 2d, 407 P.3d 1166 (2017) 10, 11, 12
State v. Arndt,
No. 48525-7-II (Dec. 12, 2017)
State v. Brett,
126 Wash.2d 136, 892 P.2d 29 (1995)
State v. Brett,
126 Wn.2d 136, 892 P.2d 29 (1995)11
State v. Clark,
187 Wn.2d 641, 389 P.3d 462 (2017)
State v. Dent,
123 Wn.2d 467, 869 P.2d 392 (1994)
State v. Dye,
178 Wn.2d 541, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013)
State v. Elmore,
121 Wn. App. 747, 90 P.3d 1110 (2004), <i>aff'd</i> , 155 Wn.2d 758
(2005))
State v. Elmore,
155 Wn.2d 758, 123 P.3d 72 (2005)
State v. Flinn, 154 Wn.2d 193, 110 P.3d 748 (2005)
134 WII.2d 195, 110 F.3d 748 (2003)
123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)
125 W11.2d 041, 870 1.2d 313 (1994)
167 Wn.2d 273, 217 P.3d 768 (2009)
State v. Jones,
168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010)
State v. Kincaid,
103 Wash.2d 304, 692 P.2d 823 (1985)
State v. Kincaid,
103 Wn.2d 304, 692 P.2d 823 (1985)

State v. Lewis,
141 Wn. App. 367, 166 P.3d 786 (2007), review denied, 163
Wn.2d 1030 (2008)
State v. Perez,
137 Wn. App. 97, 151 P.3d 249 (2007)
State v. Thomas,
166 Wn.2d 380, 208 P.3d 1107 (2009)
State v. Yates,
161 Wash.2d 714, 168 P.3d 359 (2007)
United States v. Wallace,
848 F.2d 1464 (9th Cir.1988)
STATUTES
RCW 10.95.020
RCW 10.95.030(1)
RULES
RAP 13.4(b)

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the State of Washington. The answer is filed by Kitsap County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney RANDALL A. SUTTON.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State respectfully requests that this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision in *State v. Arndt*, No. 48525-7-II (Dec. 12, 2017), a copy of which is attached to the petition for review.

#### III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Court of Appeals, in conformity with well-established principles held:

[T]he trial court did not err when it excluded (1) Dale Mann's testimony about the melted bucket, the plastic container, demonstrative evidence, the polystyrene test results, flashover, and smoke visibility; and (2) Craig Hanson's testimony. However, we hold that the trial court erred when it excluded Mann's testimony about his review of police reports, but the error was harmless. We further hold that the trial court did not violate Arndt's right to be free from double jeopardy by entering convictions for aggravated first degree murder with a first degree arson aggravating circumstance and first degree arson. But the trial court violated Arndt's right to be free from double jeopardy by entering convictions for aggravated first degree murder with a first degree arson aggravating circumstance and first degree felony murder because the legislature intended for the conduct underlying Arndt's murder convictions to be punished as a single offense. Accordingly, we remand this case back to the trial court to vacate Arndt's first degree felony murder conviction, but we affirm the remaining convictions.

#### Opinion, at 1-2.

The question presented is whether this Court should decline to accept review because none of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are met, because:

- The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals; and
- 2. The decision fails to present a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States; and
- 3. The petition fails to present any issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Kitsap County Superior Court jury found Shelly Margaret Arndt guilty as charged of nine counts:

Count	Charge	Victim	Aggravator(s)
I	Premeditated First-	Darcy "Junior"	Arson (aggravated murder)
	Degree Murder	Veeder	Domestic Violence
			Vulnerable Victim
II	First-Degree	Darcy "Junior"	Domestic Violence
	Felony Murder	Veeder	Vulnerable Victim
III	First-Degree Arson		Domestic Violence
			Impact on Other Persons
IV	Second-Degree	Kelly O'Neil	Domestic Violence
	Assault		
V	Second-Degree	Autumn Kreifels	Domestic Violence
	Assault		

VI	Second-Degree	S.O.	
	Assault		
VII	Second-Degree	L.O.	
	Assault		
VIII	Second-Degree	D.T.	
	Assault		
XI	Second-Degree	Donald Thomas	
	Assault		

CP 1-2.

As required by RCW 10.95.030(1), the court sentenced Arndt to life without the possibility of parole on Count I. CP 3. No sentence was imposed on Count II.<sup>1</sup> *Id.* The court imposed standard range sentences on the remaining counts, to run concurrently to Count I. CP 3-4.

The arson and murder charges were based on evidence that Arndt set fire to her sister's house with the intent to kill her boyfriend, Darcy Veeder, Jr. The plan was successful. The remaining assault charges were predicated on the presence in the house at the time of the arson of Arndt's sister, niece, nephews and two family friends, who all survived. For a more complete statement of the case, refer to the State's brief below at 2-28, and the Court of Appeals opinion at 2-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State conceded below that reference to this count should be stricken from the judgment and sentence. *See* Brief of Respondent, at 66; Opinion, at 33.

#### V. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE **COURT** OF **APPEALS APPLIED** THE **CORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW AND PROPERLY** REJECTED HER **CLAIMS** REGARDING HER EXPERT'S TESTIMONY, AND PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT A CONVICTION FOR FIRST-DEGREE MURDER AGGRAVATED BY ARSON AND A SEPARATE CONVICTION FOR ARSON DID NOT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROTECTIONS.

1. None of the considerations governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) support acceptance of review.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should decline to accept review because none of these considerations supports acceptance of review. The State will address two of the issues Arndt raises, and rely on its briefing below and the Court of Appeals opinion with regard to the remaining claims.

# 2. Arndt fails to show that a blanket de novo standard of review is appropriate.

Arndt argues that because she raised a constitutional claim the standard of review should have been de novo. Her contention is contrary to this Court's existing precedent. Moreover, given that virtually any issue in a criminal case can be constitutionalized, it would effectively strip all discretion from the trial courts. She fails to show that this Court intended such a result.

Below, Arndt urges the court to apply the "reasoning outlined in *Jones* and *Iniguez*." Brief of Appellant at 9. However, the "reasoning" in *Jones* is as follows:

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

We review a claim of a denial of Sixth Amendment rights de novo. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280–81, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). Since Jones argues that his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense has been violated, we review his claim de novo.

State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). *Iniguez*, in turn, provides slightly more analysis:

At the outset, there is a disagreement over the proper standard of review. The State argues that we review a trial courts' decisions to grant a continuance and deny severance for an abuse of discretion. In contrast, in an amicus curiae brief, the Washington Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers (WACDL) argues that a constitutional question of speedy trial rights is reviewed de novo, citing *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972), and *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 120 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1992).

Both sides are, in a sense, correct. It is true that we review the denial of a severance motion for an abuse of discretion. State v. Dent, 123 Wn.2d 467, 484, 869 P.2d 392 (1994). Similarly, we review a decision to grant or deny a continuance for an abuse of discretion. State v. Flinn, 154 Wn.2d 193, 199, 110 P.3d 748 (2005). However, a court "necessarily abuses its discretion by denying a criminal defendant's constitutional rights." State v. Perez, 137 Wn. App. 97, 105, 151 P.3d 249 (2007). And we review de novo a claim of a denial of constitutional rights. See Brown v. State, 155 Wn.2d 254, 261, 119 P.3d 341 (2005); see also United States v. Wallace, 848 F.2d 1464, 1469 (9th Cir.1988) (a Sixth Amendment speedy trial claim is reviewed de novo). Because Iniguez argues his constitutional speedy trial rights were violated, our review is de novo.

State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280–81, 217 P.3d 768 (2009).

So, surely *Brown v. State* must provide some reasoning for the position Arndt urges. An examination of that case produces this clarifying point:

We review the *meaning* of the constitution and statutes de novo.

Brown, 155 Wn.2d at 261 (emphasis supplied).

Following the trail of citations from *Jones* to *Iniguez* to *Brown* takes us back to familiar and basic appellate precepts: fact-based decisions are reviewed for abuse of discretion and legal interpretation is reviewed de novo. Or as this Court explained more than 20 years ago:

Within our appellate court system there is no reason to make a distinction between constitutional claims, such as those involved in a suppression hearing, and other claims of right. The trier of fact is in a better position to assess the credibility of witnesses, take evidence, and observe the demeanor of those testifying. This remains true regardless of the nature of the rights involved.

There is adequate opportunity for review of trial court findings within the ordinary bounds of review. A trial court's erroneous determination of facts, unsupported by substantial evidence, will not be binding on appeal. This strikes the proper balance between protecting the rights of the defendant, constitutional or otherwise, and according deference to the factual determinations of the actual trier of fact.

State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 646–47, 870 P.2d 313, 316 (1994) (citations omitted).

Iniguez also cites to State v. Perez, 137 Wn. App. 97, 105, 151 P.3d 249, 254 (2007), which observed that "whether ... constitutional rights were violated is a question of law that we review de novo." Perez, 137 Wn. App. at 105 (citing State v. Elmore, 121 Wn. App. 747, 757, 90 P.3d 1110 (2004), aff'd, 155 Wn.2d 758 (2005)).

Interestingly, when this Court affirmed *Elmore*, a juror misconduct case, it provided a rather more nuanced discussion of the standard of review than did the Court of Appeals. There, the defendant argued, as the Court of Appeals held, that "because Elmore's appeal implicates her constitutional rights to a fair and impartial jury, appellate review should be de novo." *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 767, 123 P.3d 72 (2005). The State, on the other hand, contended that the matter should be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 768.

As in *Hill*, the Court observed that "Washington courts, as well as the great majority of other courts reviewing juror dismissal, have applied an abuse of discretion standard and found that so long as the trial court has applied the proper legal standard of proof to the evidence, the trial court's decision deserves deference." *Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d at 768-69. The court noted that courts had applied this standard to numerous issues involving jurors, including where, as here, it is alleged the juror has considered extrinsic matters.

After further discussion of the sensitive issues surrounding claims that a juror was refusing to follow the law, the Court concluded that even in that touchy area, this standard remained:

We affirm the Court of Appeals' adoption of the "any reasonable possibility" standard; where a deliberating juror is accused of refusing to follow the law, that juror cannot be dismissed when there is any reasonable possibility that his or her views stem from an evaluation of the sufficiency of the evidence. Yet we also emphasize that this standard is applicable only in the rare case where a juror is accused of engaging in nullification, refusing to deliberate, or refusing to follow the law. In addition, we adopt the Eleventh Circuit's position that once the proper evidentiary standard is applied, the trial court's evaluation of the facts is reviewable only for abuse of discretion.

Elmore, 155 Wn.2d at 778 (emphasis supplied).

Although *Elmore* involved a deliberating juror, when the defendant claims a violation of her right to present a case by offering expert testimony, Washington courts have also "repeatedly followed" an abuse of

discretion standard. *State v. Lewis*, 141 Wn. App. 367, 385, 166 P.3d 786 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1030 (2008).

The statements in *Jones* and *Iniguez* should be viewed as a shorthand for these well-established principles. First, there is no mention in either of those cases of any intent to overrule the pre-existing jurisprudence. Indeed, in one case Arndt cites, *State v. Dye*, 178 Wn.2d 541, 548, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013), the Court held point-blank that "[a]lleging that a ruling violated the defendant's right to a fair trial does not change the standard of review."

Ironically, Arndt faults the this Court's holding in *State v. Clark*, 187 Wn.2d 641, 389 P.3d 462 (2017), for failing to follow her interpretation of *Jones* and *Iniguez*. However its statement regarding *Jones* makes it clear that the Court did not view that case as altering basic standards of review: "we determine *as a matter of law* whether the exclusion violated the constitutional right to present a defense." *Clark*, 187 Wn.2d at 649 (*citing Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 719; emphasis supplied). Matters of law are traditionally reviewed de novo.

Further, in *Iniguez*, the Court decided two issues: whether the Washington Constitution's speedy trial provision was more protective than the federal right, and whether Iniguez's constitutional speedy trial rights had been violated. The former is clearly a question of law and a classic

case of de novo review. The analysis of the second issue was based on the undisputed facts in the record and was thus, again, an application of the law to the facts. Thus despite the comment Arndt cites, nothing in the actual analysis and holding in *Iniguez* applied a de novo standard of review to matters typically within the discretion of the trial court.

Nor were the issues presented in *Jones* analyzed or decided in any way contrary to the traditional de novo/abuse of discretion divide. There, the trial court excluded testimony about the alleged rape victim's sexual conduct during the res gestae of the crime. The Court determined that the trial court erred in concluding that the rape shield statute applied to this testimony. The error was again a classic misapplication of the legal standards to undisputed facts.

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